
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
MEETING

10.00 AM MONDAY, 4TH APRIL, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members of the Rights of way Committee are 
reminded of their personal responsibility to declare 
any personal and prejudicial interest in respect of 
matters contained in this agenda in accordance 
with the provisions of the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct.

Note:

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and 

b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave. 



Information Reports

3. Guidance on the Law relating to the Continuous 
Review of the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way 
To receive this guidance for information. (Pages 1 - 14)

4. Guidance on the Law relating to the Diversion of 
Rights of Way under Highways Act 1980 
To receive this guidance for information. (Pages 15 - 18)

5. Vaynor 25 
To receive report of the Corporate Director (Place 
and Transformation).

(Pages 19 - 20)

Reports for determination

6. Pant 13 
To consider a report of the Corporate Director 
(Place and Transformation). 

(Pages 21 - 34)

7. Troedyrhiw 113 
To consider a report of the Corporate Director 
(Place and Transformation).

(Pages 35 - 46)

8. Any other Business as deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors C T Jones (Chair) 

T Chaplin, E Galsworthy, K Moran and S Slater

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203

Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


                           Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY
INFORMATION REPORT

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen

Guidance on the law relating to the continuous review of the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way

Definitions

The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 gives the following definitions of the public 
rights of way which are able to be recorded on the Definitive Map:-

Footpath – means a highway over which the public have a right of way on foot 
only, other than such a highway at the side of a public road; these rights are 
without prejudice to any other public rights over the way;

Bridleway – means a highway over which the public have the following, but no 
other, rights of way, that is to say, a right of way on foot and a right of way on 
horseback or leading a horse, with or without a right to drive animals of any 
description along the highway; these rights are without prejudice to any other 
public rights over the way;

Byway open to all traffic (BOATs) – means a highway over which the public 
have a right of way for vehicular traffic and all other kinds of traffic. These routes 
are recorded as Byways recognising their particular type of vehicular highway 
being routes whose characters make them more likely to be used by walkers and 
horse riders because of them being more suitable for these types of uses;

Date Written 1st October 2015
Report Author Geraint Morgan
Committee Date 4th April 2016 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Restricted Byway – means a highway over which the public have a right of way 
on foot, on horseback or leading a horse and a right of way for vehicles other 
than mechanically propelled vehicles, with or without a right to drive animals 
along the highway. (Mechanically propelled vehicles do not include vehicles in 
S189 Road Traffic Act 1988).

Duty of the Surveying Authority

Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying 
Authority shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review 
and as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any of a number of 
prescribed events by Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement 
as appear to them to be requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event.

Orders following “evidential events”

The prescribed events include –

Sub section (3) of section 53

(b) the expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the Map 
relates, of any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way 
during that period raises a presumption that the way has been 
dedicated as a public path or restricted byway;

(c) the discovery by the Authority of evidence which (when considered 
with all other relevant evidence available to them) shows –
(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the Map and Statement 

subsists or is reasonably alleged  to subsist over land in the 
area to which the map relates, being a right of way such that the 
land over which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted 
byway or, a byway open to all traffic; or

(ii) that a highway shown in the Map and Statement as a highway 
of a particular description ought to be there shown as a highway 
of a  different description; or

(iii) that there is a public right of way over land in the Map and 
Statement as a highway of any description, or any other 
particulars contained in the Map and Statement require 
modification.  

The modifications which may be made by Order shall include the addition to the 
statement of particulars as to:-

Page 2



(a) the position and width of any public path or byway open to all traffic 
which is or is to be shown on the Map; and

(b) any limitations or conditions affecting the public right of way thereover.

Orders following “legal events”

Other events include 

“The coming into operation of any enactment or instrument or any other event” 
whereby a highway is stopped up diverted widened or extended or has ceased to 
be a highway of a particular description or has been created and a Modification 
Order can be made to amend the Definitive Map and Statement to reflect these 
legal events.

Government Policy – Welsh Office Circulars 5/93 & 45/90

In considering the duty outlined above the Authority should have regard to the 
above circulars.

Circular 5/93

Paragraph 13 of Annex B of that circular states “Surveying Authorities, whenever 
they discover or are presented with evidence which suggests that a Definitive 
Map and Statement should be modified, are required to take into consideration 
all other relevant evidence available to them concerning the status of the right of 
way involved. Moreover before making an Order they must be satisfied that the 
evidence shows on the balance of probability that a right of way of a particular 
description exists or that a way shown on the Map is not in fact a public right of 
way. The mere assumption, without any supporting evidence, that a right of way 
does or does not exist would be insufficient to satisfy that test. In the case of 
deletions, the conclusive evidential effect of definitive maps and statements 
means that the evidence must show that no right of way existed as at the 
relevant date of the Definitive Map on which the way was first shown. If the 
evidence does support this, consideration should also be given to whether the 
way has acquired such rights in the intervening period.”

Further advice on deletions is contained in Welsh Office Circular 45/90.

In relation to byways open to all traffic (BOATs) Paragraph 12 of Annex B states 
“by definition BOATs are vehicular rights of way which are used by the public 
mainly for the purposes for which footpaths and bridleways are used. The 
Principal factor Surveying Authorities should bear in mind when deciding whether 
a way ought to be shown on the Definitive Map and Statement as a BOAT is 
therefore the purposes for which it is used. Thus if it is mainly used by vehicular 
traffic as opposed to walkers and horse riders it should as a general rule not be 

Page 3



shown. Instances may occur where a way presumed to have been dedicated as 
a highway for all purposes under Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 also 
satisfies the definition of a BOAT. In such circumstances, it would be open to 
Surveying Authorities to add the way to the Definitive Map and Statement under 
Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Section 53(3)(c) also 
allows for ways presently shown on Definitive Maps and Statements as footpaths 
and bridleways, but which enjoy vehicular rights, to be upgraded to BOATs.”     

Circular 45/90

The circular explains that following the Court of Appeal decision in R v Secretary 
of State for the Environment ex parte Sims and Burrows (1989), authorities may 
consider applications to delete or downgrade rights of way on the basis that the 
evidence relates to events prior to the relevant date of the Definitive Map.

The circular also states:

“However, in making an application for an Order to delete or downgrade a right of 
way it will be for those who contend that there is no right of way or that a right of 
way is of a lower status than shown to prove that the Map is in error by the 
discovery of evidence which, when considered with all other relevant evidence, 
clearly shows that a mistake was made when the right of way was first recorded. 
The Authority is required by Paragraph 3 of Schedule 14 to the Act to investigate 
the matters stated in the application. However, it is not for the Authority to 
demonstrate that the Map is correct but for the applicant to show that an error 
was made…”

“In making an Order the Authority must be able to say in accordance with 
Sections 53(3)(c)(ii) or (iii) that a highway of a particular description ought to be 
shown on the Map and Statement with a different description; or that there is no 
public right of way over land shown in the Map and Statement as a highway of 
any description…”

“Authorities will be aware of the need, as emphasised by the Court of Appeal, to 
maintain an authoritative Map and Statement of highest attainable accuracy. The 
evidence needed to remove a public right from such an authoritative record will 
need to be cogent. The procedures for defining and recording public rights of way 
have, in successive legislation, been comprehensive and thorough. Whilst they 
do not preclude errors, particularly where recent research has uncovered 
previously unknown evidence, or where the review procedures have never been 
implemented, they would tend to suggest that it is unlikely that a large number of 
errors would have been perpetuated for up to 40 years without being questioned 
earlier.”            

Page 4



Definitive Maps

The process for the preparation and revision of definitive maps was introduced 
by Part III of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949.

Merthyr Tydfil was exempt from the provisions of Part III and it was not until 1990 
that the first Definitive Map and Statement was prepared for Merthyr Tydfil by the 
then Highway Authority, Mid Glamorgan County Council. This was reviewed and 
the present Definitive Map and Statement is dated 15th December 1995.

Test to be applied when making an Order

The provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 set out the tests which 
must be addressed in deciding that the Map should be altered.

Section 53 permits both upgrading and downgrading of recorded highways and 
additions of way not previously recorded as well as deletions from the Map.

The statutory test at S53(3)(b) refers to the expiration of a period of time and use 
by the public such that a presumption of dedication is raised.

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(i) comprises two separate questions, one of which 
must be answered in the affirmative before an Order is made under that 
subsection. There has to be evidence discovered. The claimed right of way has 
to be found on balance to subsist (Test A) or able to be reasonably alleged to 
subsist (Test B).

This second Test B is easier to satisfy.

Test B has been described in a recent case as imposing a “lesser burden, 
namely one which obliges the Authority only to be satisfied of the existence of 
facts which raise a prima facie case for the subsistence of the way.”     

The case of R v Secretary of State for the Environment, ex parte Bagshaw 
(1994) seems by inference to accept that an Order made on resumed dedication 
under Statute can be made under s53(3)(b) or s53(3)(c)(i).

In the Court of Appeal case, R v Secretary of State for Wales, ex parte Emery 
(1996), Lord Justice Roch found that in the case of a dedication deemed under 
statute; Test A is satisfied if there is “clear evidence of 20 years user 
uncontraverted by any credible evidence to the contrary and no credible 
evidence that there was on the part of the landowner no intention during the 
period to dedicate the way to the public”.

Page 5



Neither Test A nor Test B will be satisfied if there is “no credible evidence of 20 
years use or where there is incontrovertible evidence that the landowner had no 
intention during the period to dedicate the way to the public”.

Test B can be satisfied where “an applicant for a Modification Order produces 
credible evidence of actual enjoyment of a way as a public right of way over a full 
period of 20 years and there is conflict of apparently credible evidence in relation 
to one of the other issues which arose under S31 of the 1980 Act”. This is 
because it is possible, even though there is conflicting evidence, that a 
reasonable person having considered all relevant evidence available could 
reasonably allege a right of way to subsist.

The Court in the Emery case asked Order Making Authorities to bear in mind that 
making an Order still leaves both parties with the ability to object to the Order 
when conflicting evidence can be heard and those issues determined following a 
public inquiry.

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(ii) again refers to the discovery of evidence that 
the highway on the Definitive Map ought to be shown as a different status.

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(iii) again refers to evidence being discovered that 
there is no public right of way of any description after all or that there is evidence 
that particulars in the Map or Statement need to be modified.

The judgement in O’Keefe v Secretary of State for the Environment and Isle of 
Wight CC (1997) reminds Order making Authorities that they should make their 
own assessment of the evidence and not accept unquestioningly what officers 
place before them.

All evidence must be considered and weighed and a view taken on its relevance 
and effect.

An Order making Authority should reach a conclusion on the balance of 
probabilities. The balance of probability test demands a comparative assessment 
of the evidence on opposing sides. This is a complex balancing act.

Recording a “new” route

For a route to have become a highway it must have been dedicated by the owner 
either directly or by inference.

Once a route is a highway it remains a highway, even though it may fall into non 
use and perhaps become part of garden.

Page 6



This is the position until a legal event causing the highway to cease can be 
shown to have occurred, or the land on which the highways runs is destroyed 
perhaps by erosion which would mean that the highway length ceases to exist.  

Sometimes there is documentary evidence of actual dedication but more often a 
dedication can be inferred because of how the landowner appears to have 
treated the route and given it over to public use (dedication at Common Law) or 
dedication can be deemed to have occurred if certain criteria laid down in Statute 
are fulfilled (dedication under S31 Highways Act 1980)

Dedication able to be inferred at Common Law

At common law dedication of a highway may be inferred if the evidence points 
clearly and unequivocally to an intention on the part of the landowner to dedicate. 
The burden of proof is on the claimant to prove a dedication. Evidence of use of 
the route by the public and how an owner acted towards them is one of the 
factors which may be taken into account in deciding whether a path has been 
dedicated. No minimum period of use is necessary. All the circumstances must 
be taken into account. How a landowner viewed a route may also be indicated in 
documents and maps.

However, a landowner may rely on a variety of evidence to indicate that he did 
not intend to dedicate, including signs the way was private, blocking off the way 
or turning people off the path, or granting permission or accepting payment to 
use the path.

There is no need to know who a landowner was.

Use needs to be by the public. This would seem to require the users to be a 
number of people who together may sensibly be taken to represent the people as 
a whole/the local community. Use wholly or largely by local people may still be 
use by the public. Use of a way by trades people, postmen, estate workers or by 
employees of the landowner to get to work, or the purpose of doing  business 
with the landowner or on payment would not normally be sufficient. Use by 
friends of or persons known to the landowner would be less cogent evidence 
than use by other persons.

The use also needs to be as of right which would mean that it had to be open, 
not secretly or by force or with permission. Open use would arguably give the 
landowner the opportunity to challenge the use. Toleration by the landowner of a 
use is not inconsistent with user as of right. Recent case law would indicate that 
the use has to be considered from the landowner’s perspective as to whether the 
use, in all the circumstances, is such as to suggest to a reasonable landowner 
the exercise of a public right of way.

Page 7



The use would have to be of a sufficient level for a landowner to have been 
aware of it. The use must be by such a number as might reasonably have been 
expected if the way had been unquestioningly a highway.

Current use (vehicular or otherwise) is not required for a route to be considered a 
Byway Open to All Traffic but past use by the public using vehicles will need to 
be sufficiently evidenced from which to infer the dedication of a vehicular route.       

Dedication deemed to have taken place (Statutory Test)

By virtue of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 dedication of a path as a 
highway may be presumed from use of the way by the public as of right – not 
secretly, not by force nor by permission without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during 
the twenty year period to dedicate it.

The 20 year period is computed back from the date the existence of the right of 
way is called into question.

A landowner may prevent a presumption of dedication arising by erecting notices 
indicating that the path is private. Further, under Section 31(6) a landowner may 
deposit with the Highway Authority a map (of a scale of not less than 1:10560 {6 
inches to the mile}) and statement showing those ways, if any, which he or she 
agrees are dedicated as highways. This statement must be followed by statutory 
declarations. These statutory declarations used to have to be renewed at not 
more than 6 yearly intervals, but the interval is now 10 years. The declaration 
would state that no additional rights of way have been dedicated. These 
provisions do not preclude the other ways open to the landowner to show the 
way has not been dedicated.

If the criteria of Section 31 are satisfied a highway can properly be deemed to 
have been dedicated. This deemed dedication is despite a landowner now 
protesting or being the one to now challenge the use as it is considered too late 
for him to now evidence his lack of intention when he failed to do something to 
sufficiently evidence this during the previous twenty years.

Guidance on the various elements of the Statutory criteria:-

Use – see above as to sufficiency of use. The cogency, credibility and 
consistency of user evidence should be considered.

By the public – see above as to users which may be considered “the public”.

As of right – see above.

Page 8



Without interruption – for a deemed dedication the use must have been without 
interruption. The route should not have been blocked with the intention of 
excluding the users.

For a full period of twenty years – use by different people, each for periods of 
less than twenty years will suffice if, taken together, they total a continuous 
period of twenty years or more. The period must end with the route being “called 
into question”.

Calling into question -  there must be something  done which is sufficient at least 
to make it likely that some users are made aware that the owner has challenged 
their right to use the way as a highway. Barriers, signage and challenges to users 
can all call a route into question. An application for a Modification Order is itself 
sufficient to be a “calling into question” (as provided in the new statutory 
provisions of Section 31(7a & 7b) Highways Act 1980). It is not necessary that it 
be the landowner who brings the route into question.

Sufficient evidence of a lack of intention to dedicate – this would not need to be 
evidenced for the whole of the twenty year period. It would be unlikely that lack of 
intention could be sufficiently evidenced in the absence of overt and 
contemporaneous acts on the part of the owner. The intention not to dedicate 
does have to be brought to the attention of the users of the route such that a 
reasonable user would be able to understand that the landowner was intending 
to disabuse him of the notion that the land was a public highway.

Documentary Evidence

By virtue of Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 in considering whether a 
highway has been dedicated, maps plans and histories of the locality are 
admissible in evidence and must be given such weight as is justified by the 
circumstances including the antiquity of the document, status of the persons by 
whom and the purpose for which the document was made or compiled and the 
custody from which it is produced.                  

In assessing whether or not a highway has been dedicated reference is 
commonly made to old commercial maps of the County, Ordnance Survey maps, 
sometimes private estate maps and other documents, other public documents 
such as Inclosure or Tithe Awards, plans deposited in connection with private 
Acts of Parliament establishing railways, canals or other public works, records 
compiled in connection with the valuation of land for the purposes of the 
assessment of increment value duty and the Finance Act 1910. Works of local 
history may also be relevant, as may be the records of predecessor highway 
authorities and the information gained in connection with the preparation and 
review of the Definitive Map.

Page 9



It should be stressed that it is rare for a single document or piece of information 
to be conclusive (although some documents are of more value than others, e.g. 
Inclosure Awards where the Commissioners were empowered to allot and set out 
highways). It is necessary to look at the evidence as a whole to see if it builds up 
a picture of the route being dedicated as a highway.        

It should be noted that Ordnance Survey Maps (other than recent series which 
purport to show public rights of way and which derive their information from the 
Definitive Map) contain a disclaimer to the effect that the recording of a highway 
or right of way does not imply that it has any status. The maps reflect what the 
map makers found on the ground.

Similarly, in relation to other map evidence such as Tithe Maps, they simply 
indicate that there was a track in existence at the time of the inspection, they do 
not establish the status of the track.

Synergy between pieces of highway status evidence – coordination as distinct 
from repetition would significantly increase the collective impact of the 
documents.

Recording vehicular rights

Historical evidence can indicate that a route carries vehicular rights and following 
the case of Bakewell Management Limited v Brandford case in 2004 (House of 
Lords) it is considered that vehicular rights could be acquired on routes by long 
user during years even since 1930. However, in May 2006 Part 6 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 came into force. Public rights of 
way for mechanically propelled vehicles are now extinguished on routes shown 
on the Definitive Map as footpaths, bridleways or restricted byways unless one of 
eight exceptions applies. In essence mechanical vehicle rights no longer exist 
unless a route is recorded in a particular way on the Council’s Definitive Map or 
List of Streets or one of the other exceptions apply. In effect the provisions of the 
Act curtail the future scope for applications to record a Byway Open to All Traffic 
to be successful.

The exceptions whereby mechanical vehicular rights are “saved” may be 
summarised as follows:-

1. main lawful use of the route 2001-2006 was use for mechanically 
propelled vehicles.

2. that the route was not on the Definitive Map but was recorded on the List 
of Streets.

3. that the route was especially created to be a highway for mechanically 
propelled vehicles.

4. that the route was constructed under statutory powers as a road intended 
for use by mechanically propelled vehicles.

Page 10



5. that the route was dedicated by use of mechanically propelled vehicles 
before December 1930.

6. that a proper application was made before 19th May 2005 for a 
Modification Order to record the route as Byway Open to All Traffic 
(BOAT).

7. that a Regulatory Committee had already made a decision re an 
application for a BOAT before 6th April 2006.

8. that an application for a Modification Order has already been made before 
6th April 2006 for a BOAT and at 6th April 2006 use of the way for 
mechanically propelled vehicles was reasonably necessary to enable that 
applicant to access land he has an interest in, even if not actually used.

It is certainly the case that any application to add a byway to the Definitive Map 
and Statement must still be processed and determined even though the outcome 
may now be that a vehicular right of way existed before May 2006 but has been 
extinguished for mechanically propelled vehicles and that the route should be 
recorded as a restricted byway.     

Downgrading a route or taking a route off the Definitive Map

In such matters it is clear that the evidence to be considered relates to whether 
on balance it is shown that a mistake was made when the right was first 
recorded.

In the case of Trevelyan v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and 
the Regions (2001), Court of Appeal, it was considered that where a right of way 
is marked on the Definitive Map there is an initial presumption that it exists. It 
should be assumed that the proper procedures were followed and thus evidence 
which made it reasonably arguable that it existed was available when it was put 
on the Map. The standard of proof required to justify a finding that no such right 
of way exists is on the balance of probabilities and evidence of some substance 
is required to outweigh that presumption.

Authorities will be aware of the need, as emphasised by the Court of Appeal, to 
maintain an authoritative Map and Statement of highest attainable accuracy. 
“The evidence needed to remove a public right from such an authoritative record 
will need to be cogent. The procedures for defining and recording public rights of 
way have, in successive legislation, been comprehensive and thorough. Whilst 
they do not preclude errors, or where the review procedures have never been 
implemented, they would tend to suggest that it is unlikely that a large number of 
errors would have been perpetuated for up to 40 years without being questioned 
earlier.”

Page 11



Taking one route off and replacing it with an alternative

In some cases there will be no dispute that a public right of way exists between 
two points, but there will be one route shown on the Definitive Map which it is 
claimed to be in error and an alternative route claimed to be the actual correct 
highway.

There is a need to consider whether, in accordance with Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 a right of way is shown to subsist or is 
reasonably alleged to subsist and also, in accordance with Section 53(3)(c)(iii) of 
the same Act whether there is no public right of way on the other route.

The guidance published under the statutory provisions make it clear that 
evidence to establish that a right of way should be removed from the authoritative 
record will need to be cogent.

In the case of R (on the application of Leicester County Council) v Secretary of 
State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2003), Mr Justice Collins said 
there “has to be a balance drawn between the existence of the definitive map 
and the route shown on it which would have to be removed and the evidence to 
support the placing on the Map, in effect a new right of way. If there is doubt that 
there is sufficient evidence to show that the correct route is other than that shown 
on the Map, then what is shown on the Map must stay.”

The court considered that if it could merely be found that it was reasonable to 
allege that the alternative existed, this would not be sufficient to remove what is 
shown on the map. It advised that, unless in extraordinary circumstances, 
evidence of an alternative route which satisfied only the lower “Test B” (see 
above) would not be sufficiently cogent evidence to remove the existing recorded 
route from the Map.

Confirming the Order

An Order is not effective until confirmed.

The County Borough Council may confirm unopposed Orders. If there are 
objections the Order is sent to the Secretary of State for determination. The 
County Borough Council usually promotes Orders and actively seeks 
confirmation from the Secretary of State.

Until recently it was thought that the test to be applied to confirm an Order was 
the same test as to make the Order, which may have been under the lower Test 
B for the recording of a “new” route. However, the Honourable Justice Evans-
Lombe heard the matter of Todd and Bradley v Secretary of State for the 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2004) and decided that confirming an 
Order made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) “implies a revisiting by the Authority or 

Page 12



Secretary of State of the material upon which the original Order was made with a 
view to subjecting it to a more stringent test at the confirmation stage” and that to 
confirm the Order the Secretary of State (or the Authority) must be “satisfied of a 
case for the subsistence of the right of way in question on the balance of 
probabilities”, i.e. that Test A is satisfied.

It is advised that there may be cases where an Order to record a new route can 
be made because there is sufficient evidence that a highway is reasonably 
alleged to subsist, but unless Committee also consider that there is enough 
evidence, on balance of probabilities, that the route can be said to exist, the 
Order may not be confirmed as an unopposed Order by the County Borough 
Council. This would mean that an Order could be made, but not confirmed as 
opposed, nor could the confirmation actively be supported by the County 
Borough Council should an opposed Order be submitted to the Secretary of 
State unless additional information came to light at or before the confirmation 
stage to enable the County Borough Council to be satisfied that the way existed.

         

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY
INFORMATION REPORT

Guidance on the law relating to the diversion of rights of way 
under Highways Act 1980

The following is to remind Members of the criteria for the making of 
the Orders and to offer some guidance. 

Often the legal test requires the Committee to be satisfied as to the 
expediency of something. It is suggested that for something to be 
expedient it is appropriate and suitable to the circumstances and may 
incline towards being of an advantage even if not particularly fair. 
Something which is expedient would seem to facilitate your achieving 
a desired end.

Whether something is as convenient or not substantially less 
convenient may need to be considered. It is suggested that 
convenient refers to being suitable and easy to use.

TO MAKE AN ORDER

To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee 
or occupier

Date Written
Report Author Geraint Morgan
Committee Date 4th April 2016 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



OR
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public

To be satisfied that the Order will not alter a point of termination at all 
if it is a cul- de-sac route (ending at a beauty spot for example)
OR
If the route terminates at a highway to be satisfied that the 
termination point is only being moved to another point on the same 
highway or to another highway connected to it and the point is 
substantially as convenient to the public

To have due regard to firstly the needs of agriculture and forestry, 
secondly the desirability of conserving flora and fauna and thirdly 
geological and physiographical features.

To confirm the order if unopposed or seek confirmation from the 
Secretary of State (at a Public Inquiry if necessary) if the order is 
opposed.

To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee 
or occupier
OR
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public

To be satisfied that the route will not be substantially less convenient 
to the public

That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect the 
diversion would have on public enjoyment of the path or way as a 
whole

That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on land 
served by the existing right of way (compensation can be taken into 
account)

That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on the 
land over which the “new” section runs and any land held with it 
(compensation can be taken into account)

Page 16



Also having regard to any material provision of any Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan

That there is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory 
undertakers under in, upon, over, along or across the land crossed by 
the present definitive route unless the statutory undertakers have 
consented to the confirmation of the Order (consent not to be 
unreasonably withheld)  

GUIDANCE

The point of termination being as substantially convenient is a matter 
of judgment subject to the test of reasonableness. Convenience 
would have its natural and ordinary meaning and refer to such 
matters as whether the new point of termination facilitated the access 
of the highway network and accommodated user’s normal use of the 
network.

That the diverted path is not substantially less convenient would 
mean convenience again being considered. The wording in the 
Statute allows the diversion to be slightly less convenient but it must 
not be substantially less so. Length of the diversion, difficulty of 
walking it, effect on users who may approach the diversion from 
different directions are factors to be considered

The effect on public enjoyment of the whole route has to be 
considered. 

It would be possible that a proposed diversion may be as convenient 
but made the route less enjoyable (perhaps it was less scenic). 
Alternatively the diversion may give the route greater public 
enjoyment but be substantially less convenient (being less accessible 
or longer than the existing path).

It may be that the grounds to make an Order are satisfied but the 
Committee may be unhappy that the route can satisfy the 
confirmation test. It is suggested that in such circumstances the 
Order should be made but the Committee should consider deferring 
the decision on whether to confirm it (if there are no objections) or (if 

Page 17



there are objections) whether to instruct officers not to even send the 
Order to the Secretary of State for confirmation or to instruct to 
submit the Order to the Secretary of State and promote the 
confirmation of same. The Council has a discretion as to whether to 
submit this type of Order to the Secretary of State. It is not obliged to 
just because it has made the Order.   

Under amended provisions, the “new” section of route will “appear” 
on confirmation of the Order (or a set number of days thereafter) but 
the “old” route will remain until the new route is certified as fit for use. 
It would appear that the public could quickly have the use of a new 
section which is fit for use as soon as confirmed but if the new route 
is unfit for use for a long time, the old line of the Right of Way is still 
there for the public to use.

It would appear that if a definitive path is not used due to some 
temporary obstruction e.g. crops, overgrowth, broken stiles, the Order 
should be considered as if the path was open and in useable 
condition.

It would appear that a way created by a Diversion Order may follow 
an existing right of way for some but not most or all of its length.

The reference to having regard to needs of agriculture includes the 
breeding or keeping of horses.

Page 18



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE – INFORMATION REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Vaynor 25

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To inform Committee of a Public Inquiry in September 2016. 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 This footpath was referred to Committee in February and May 2014 when it was 
resolved that the Public Right of Way be extinguished.

2.2 An Extinguishment Order under the Highways Act 1980 was subsequently made.

2.3 3 letters of support to the Order were received.

2.4 10 objections were received to the Order. All objections received were responded to. 
The local authority attempts to deal with all objections when received in an attempt to 
have the objections withdrawn. In this particular case none of the objections were 
withdrawn.

2.5 The matter was referred to the Planning Inspectorate in order for a Rights of Way 
Inspector to make a final determination.

2.6 A Public Inquiry has been listed by the Planning Inspectorate to take place on 28th -
30th September 2016 in the Civic Centre.    

Date Written 7th March 2016
Report Author Geraint Morgan
Service Area Legal & Democratic
Committee Date 4th April 2016

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 There is a financial implication (approximately £500) in respect of advertising the 
Inquiry and in respect of officer’s time in dealing with the Inquiry. 

4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment was prepared for the initial report and a further one 
has not been completed. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Vaynor 25 2016 Rights of Way

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 20



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 13

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To seek Committee approval for a diversion of a section of Pant 13.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That committee note withdrawal of the 2014

2.2 Taking into account all the evidence which has been provided, that a Public Path 
Diversion Order be made to divert that section of the bridleway as shown on the 
plan.

2.3 To approve the confirmation of the Public Path Diversion Order made as a result of 
above provided no objections or representations are made within the prescribed 
period or if the objections or representations so made within the prescribed period 
are withdrawn

2.4 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and are 
not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination.     

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 This matter was referred to committee in February 2014 when it was resolved to 
make a Diversion Order. A Diversion Order was subsequently made and objections 

Date Written 7th March 2016
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 4th April 2016

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



received. These objections were not withdrawn. The Order was then sent to the 
Planning Inspectorate for determination.

3.2 Correspondence was received from the Planning Inspectorate in relation to the 
Order with the Inspector expressing concern that the whole of the bridleway had 
been included within the Order whilst it was only necessary to include the section to 
be diverted. Representations were made to the Inspectorate that the Order could be 
dealt with as drafted proved to be of no avail and a decision was made to withdraw 
the Order from the Inspectorate for determination and a new order be drafted 
including only that section of bridleway that needed to be diverted.

3.3 The previous reports of 17th December 2012 and 24th February 2014 are attached for 
councillor’s convenience and they set out the relevant background and financial 
implications to this matter. The criteria are diversion is to be found at Agenda Item 4.    

4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment was prepared for the initial report and a further one 
has not been completed. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 13 March 2016 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 22



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT

Date Written 4th December 2012
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 17th December 2012

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen

S.119 Highways Act 1980, Application for 
the Diversion of a section of Pant 13 
(bridleway)

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT:

To obtain Committee approval of an application from Mr P Brogden to divert a 
section of Pant 13 (bridleway).

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1.1 Mr P Brogden, the applicant and lessee of the land over which the 
diversion is requested has applied to the Council to divert a section of
Pant 13 (bridleway) under Section 119 Highways Act 1980 in 
order to accommodate a cattle grid for stock control purposes.

1.2 Section 119 Highways Act 1980 gives the Authority power to 
approve an application for changes to the route of a path by 
concurrent creation and extinguishment, stating in s1:-

“Where it appears to a Council as respects a footpath or bridleway in 
their area that, in the interests of the owner, lessee or occupier of land 
crossed by the path or way or of the public, it is expedient that the line 
of the path or way or part of that line, should be diverted (whether onto 
the land of the same or of another owner, lessee or occupier), the 
Council may, subject to subsection (2) below, by order made by them 
and submitted to and confirmed by the Secretary of State, or confirmed 
as an unopposed order, - 

Page 23



(a) create ... any such new footpath or bridleway as appears to the 
Council requisite for effecting the diversion, and

 
(b) extinguish ... in accordance with the provisions of subsection (3) 

below, the public right of way over so much of the path or way as 
appears to the Council requisite as aforesaid.

An order under this section is referred to in the Act as a public path 
diversion order.”

Subsections 2 – 9 of s119 Highways Act 1980 also require:-

 the Authority must be satisfied that the alternative path will not 
be substantially less convenient to the public and that it is 
expedient for the order to be confirmed having regard to its 
effects on the public enjoyment of the paths as a whole, on land 
served by the existing path and on land affected by the 
proposed path.

 the Authority must ensure that if the termination point is not on a 
highway that the new termination point “be substantially as 
convenient to the public.”

 the Authority must ensure that all works required to be done to 
provide necessary facilities for the convenient exercise of any 
such new public right of way as is mentioned are to be carried 
out before the date of order.

 that the public path diversion order may be unconditional or 
subject to such limitations or conditions as may be specified by 
the order.

 before determination, on the representations of an owner, 
lessee or occupier of land crossed by the path or way, the 
Council may require him to enter into an agreement with them to 
defray, or to make such contribution as may be specified in the 
agreement towards:

1. Any compensation which may become payable
2. Any expenses which may be incurred in bringing the new site 

of the path or way into fit condition for use for the public.

Any material provisions in the Rights of Way Improvement Plan must 
also be considered:

 that the order be in the prescribed form

 that schedule 6 of the Act have effect in the making of the order

Page 24



 that other sections of the Act be applied to the making of a 
public path diversion order.

Where relevant these issues are addressed in Section 2.

1.3 The legal background to this Report is at Agenda Item 3.

2.0 THE ROUTE

2.1 The existing bridleway commences at Point A on the plan, Pant 13, its 
junction with the maintainable highway at Pengarnddu, grid reference 
SO07350878. It proceeds in a north-westerly direction to point B on 
the plan, grid reference SO07410908. It then continues in a general 
northerly direction to reach a field gate at grid reference 
SO07460977. It then continues in a general northerly direction, 
then in a general north-westerly direction and then in a general 
northerly direction to terminate at Point C on the plan, the County 
Borough Boundary, where the route joins a legal bridleway, Brecknock 
18 at grid reference SO06541110.

2.2 The proposed bridleway follows exactly the same route except for a 
diversion around a cattle grid at Point B, grid reference 
SO07410908. The diversion will run to the east of the cattle grid and 
will pass through a bridlegate.

2.3 The diversion is no less convenient to the public.

2.4 No extra work is required to bring the proposed section into a fit 
condition for use as the cattle grid and adjacent bridlegate have 
already been installed.

2.5 The lessee has given his written agreement to pay any 
compensation that may become payable as a result of a diversion. 

2.6 The proposal conforms to the aims and objectives within the Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council’s Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

3.0 OBJECTION RECEIVED

3.1 A letter of objection was received from Country Land and Business 
Association on behalf of Ms M Clayton stating that she was against the 
application as she wishes to retain the free and uninterrupted 
access and use of the common, and that this proposal will 
significantly interfere with her day to day management of her 
stock on the common, of which she has enjoyed for many years and 
is freely entitled to do so. Although the proposed diversion will 
require Ms Clayton to use the bridlegate the authority does not 
consider that the diversion is substantially less convenient. 

Page 25



4.0 LETTER OF SUPPORT

4.1 A letter of support has been received from the Gelligaer & Merthyr 
Commoners Association stating that they have no objection to the 
proposed re-routing of the right of way.

5.0 SUMMARY

5.1 Taking all the above into account the authority is satisfied that the 
path should be diverted and it is also satisfied that the diverted path 
is not substantially less convenient to the public and it is expedient for 
the order to be made having regard to its effect on the public 
enjoyment as a whole, on the land served by the existing path and on 
the land affected by the proposed path.

  
6.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 There are no negative environmental implications.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 
required for the purpose of this report. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

8.1 a) Taking into consideration all the evidence which has been 
provided, that a Public Path Diversion Order be made to divert 
the bridleway.

b) To approve the confirmation of the Public Path Diversion 
Order made as a result of (a) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if 
any objections or representations so made are withdrawn.

c) If any objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period are not subsequently withdrawn then to 
refer the relevant order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

GARY THOMAS
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES

Page 26



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 13 2012 – ongoing Rights of Way 
Department Unit 5 

Consultation has been undertaken with Executive Board in respect of 
each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

C

¯Merthyr Tydfil
County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:
CJ

06/11/2012
DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:
ROW

1:12,704 © Crown copyright and database rights 2012
 Ordnance Survey 100025302

“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,
distribute or sell any of this data to third

parties in any form.”

      PANT 13

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT

Date Written 6th February 2014 
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 24th February 2014 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen

PANT 13

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT:

To obtain committee approval for a Public Path Diversion Order to divert a 
section of Pant 13.  

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1.1 On 17th December 2012 the route of Pant 13 was presented to 
committee for determination in order to divert a section of the route. 
The 2012 report is appended to this item and members are referred to 
the appendix for all relevant background details.

1.2 The section for diversion is shown on the attached plan, Pant 13.

1.3 A Diversion Order was subsequently made in 2013. This 2013 
Diversion Order had a discrepancy between the plan and the 
description 2011 together with an incorrect direction. This meant that 
the plan and the description did not accord with each other and were 
misleading. 

1.4 In order to overcome this issue a new order will need to be made.

1.5 The legal background is to be found at Agenda Item 5.  

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

2.1 These are as set out in the appended report. 

Page 31



3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report and no negative effects have been identified.  

4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

4.1 The 2013 Order be abandoned

4.2 Having abandoned the 2013 Order and 

(a) Taking into consideration all the evidence which has been provided, 
that a Public Path Diversion Order be made to divert the bridleway.

(b) To approve the confirmation of the Public Path Diversion Order made 
as a result of (a) above provided no objections or representations are 
made within the prescribed period or if any objections are made within 
the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
are withdrawn. 

(c) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 
period and are not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant 
order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination.    

 

GARY THOMAS
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 13 6th February 2014 Civic centre

Page 32



A

B

C

¯Merthyr Tydfil
County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:
CJ

06/11/2012
DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:
ROW

1:12,704 © Crown copyright and database rights 2012
 Ordnance Survey 100025302

“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,
distribute or sell any of this data to third

parties in any form.”

      PANT 13

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Troedyrhiw 113

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To determine an application to record a public right of way from the Riverside (Taff) 
along the incline of Gethin Tip on the disused railway line, Abercanaid under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, including 
historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that:

In respect of Troedyrhiw 213

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that the 
route marked with a dashed line between Points A – F - G on the plan, 
Troedyrhiw 113, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence.

(b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 213 as a footpath.

(c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 
a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made 
within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
are withdrawn.

Date Written 6th January 2016
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 4th April 2016

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



(d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 
not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the matter to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination.

In respect of Troedyrhiw 113

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is insufficient evidence to support that 
the route marked with a bold line between Points D – E on the plan, 
Troedyrhiw 113, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
that it has been dedicated as a footpath. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The claim

A claim to record a Public Right Of Way leading from the riverside (Taff) along the 
incline of Gethin Tip on the disused railway line, Abercanaid was submitted to 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) on 16th September 1991.

The legal background is to be found at Agenda Item 3.

3.2 Description of Claimed Route

The route commences on the bank of the River Taff, at Point A on the plan 
Troedyrhiw 113, grid reference SO06120346, immediately adjacent to a gate leading 
from the Recreation Ground and Abercanaid Community School, public right of way 
footpath Troedyrhiw 118. It proceeds in a general south-westerly direction on an 
uphill gradient through woodland to Point B, where it changes to a general west-
north-westerly direction to point C and crosses Public Right of Way, Bridleway 
Troedyrhiw 77, a section of the Taff Trail which follows the line of the (disused) 
Glamorgan Canal. At the time of the claim, the route crossed a bridge over the canal 
and then continued from Point D on the line of the dismantled railway (formerly a 
section of the line between the Great Western and Rhymney Railway Line to the 
Gethin No. 1 Pit) before continuing along the southern margins of Gethin Tip before 
terminating at Point E, grid reference SO05650338, its junction with Public Right of 
Way, Bridleway Troedyrhiw 8.

Councillors are requested to note that the surface and topography of the land over 
which sections of this route run have changed following land reclamation of the 
Gethin Pit and associated tips. Officers have been advised that the route between 
Points A – C is no longer used and is now severely overgrown and has been for a 
considerable period. User evidence and evidence on the ground demonstrates that 
this is indeed the case. In the reclaimed area to the east of Point C, users walk 
between Points A – F - G. In addition, the bridge at Point C - D was removed, leaving 
a stone abutment. The route westward therefore became less accessible and the 
route between Points D – E (its junction with Public Right of Way footpath 
Troedyrhiw 123) is now almost completely overgrown in places and has been for a 
considerable time. The bridge that would have been used to walk along the route as 
claimed has also been dismantled since before the date of the claim.   

Page 36



3.3 Land Ownership

The owners on 16th September 1991, the date of the claim, were British Coal 
Opencast Executive and Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council.

The Welsh Assembly Government (WAG), MTCBC, Mr. T. G. McCarthy, Walters 
Regeneration Ltd., Mr. M J Thomas and Ryan International Ltd all now have an 
interest in sections of this route.

3.4 Maps

A very short section of this route is depicted on the Merthyr Parish Tithe Map 1850.

Section D – E on the plan is depicted as a railway line to the Gethin Pit on the 1875, 
1919 and 1957 Ordnance Survey maps.

3.5 Aerial Photographs

Small sections of the claimed route is depicted on 1967 and 2008 aerial 
photographs. The route between Points A – F - G on the plan is also depicted on 
aerial photographs from 2001 onwards.

3.6 Site Visits

The eastern section is overgrown in sections although some of the route can still be 
discerned. Officers walked between Points A – F - G and a small western section 
between Points D - E. The walked sections were well-used and clearly defined.

Summary of claim:-

The main claimant submitted:

 Completed Certificate WCA5 24/08/1999 (Application for a Modification 
Order),

 Completed WCA7 Certificate (confirmation of service of Notice on 
landowners),

 A plan depicting  the claimed route in green, and
 6 completed evidence forms.

Three people claimed the route as a bridleway and three as a footpath. Two people 
gave evidence of equestrian use, three gave evidence of use as a footpath and one 
person failed to answer this question. In 1991, claimants gave evidence of having 
used the route for between 30 and 50 years. All stated that they regard the route as 
public; that it is well-defined; that they have always used the path regularly for 
leisure. Several claimants made further comments:

 Mr. Watkins stated “temporary fencing has been erected on Gethin Tip. A fence 
with gate exists on the bottom of the incline. A second gate exists also at bottom 
of incline immediately adjacent to road which is locked. 2 stiles exist on incline 

Page 37



itself. Vegetation is obstructing path in some places on Gethin Tip. Trees have 
grown over the path forcing a detour onto recreation ground. Path has also 
collapsed into stream in two places”.

“This path forms an important link between the park, onto the canal bank and up 
to the Gethin Woodland Park. The access should be restored at the bottom of the 
incline”.

 Mr. Deen stated “A temporary fence has been erected on Gethin Tip ...Canal 
Bank to park was bridleway”

 Mr. Foley stated ”fences were places around the tip to allow the tip removal the 
Council said these would be removed”

 Mr. Howells stated “ from the river side at the foot of the old tip there has been a 
temporary fence erected. This temporary fence has been there for at least three 
years. Also at foot of tip vegetation has grown over path making walker take a 
detour onto the recreation ground. A wooden gate is present at top of old tip. At 
base of incline two wooden gates exist one is always locked. Two stiles exist at 
the top of the incline”.

“This path starting at grid reference – was a bridleway to the old canal. After the 
canal it was known as a footpath. The obstructions on the incline side is a fence”.

 Mr. Lewis stated “temporary fencing has been erected on Gethin Tip. A fence 
with gate exists on the bottom of the incline”.

Other information from Claimants and Users

Mr. Philip Watkins (main claimant) explained that he had submitted this claim with a 
number of other claims for public rights of way on behalf of a group of villagers. He 
said that because the proposed A470 had allowed no public access to the 
mountainside to the west of the village of Abercanaid, local people had been very 
concerned that routes that they had always used would be lost to them. They had set 
up a committee in a local public house and had sought advice from the Ramblers 
Association and Groundwork Trust. Many villagers had attended meetings, 
confirmed routes which they had walked and gave signed witness statements.

He stated that this route forms an important link between the Park (now Abercanaid 
Community School Recreation Ground), the Canal Bank (now the Taff Trail) and 
routes to Gethin Woodland Park – also before Councillors for determination today. 

Mr. Watkins’ evidence for this route extends from the late 1950s. He stated that from 
this time to the 1990s he had regularly ridden the claimed route on horseback (his 
brother-in-law’s horse) and also often walked it. Since the 1960s he has only walked 
the sections between A – F - G and between Points D - E. Mr. Watkins has never 
been challenged while using the route.

Mrs Anita Deen stated that she has walked this and a number of other routes which 
she has claimed all of her life, for pleasure, recreation and as a short cut to farms or 

Page 38



different places, especially over to Aberdare Mountain. She was taken on this route 
by her grandfather and her parents and also took her own children there. She said, 
“It was a habit of a lifetime, a love of walking”.  Mrs Deen stated that this and all the 
routes were well defined and that she had used them both day and night She has 
always thought that they definitely had the right to use this route and nobody has 
ever tried to stop her or place any obstruction on the route. Mrs Deen’s evidence of 
use of this route extends from at least 1950 and she has only stopped using it 
because of medical conditions. Mrs Deen recognizes that only the sections between 
Points A – F - G and D - E have been used since the 1960s, although maintains that 
the entire claimed route is the correct one which she originally walked.

Mr. Kenneth Deen also said that he has used this route (as well as others) for both 
work and pleasure and regularly rode this route on horseback from at least the 
1950s and his brother-in-law, Mr Watkins, also rode his (Mr Deen’s) horses on it. 
They used the western section to access the Aberdare Mountain. Mr. Deen believes 
that he has a right to ride horses and walk this route because he has used it since he 
was a young boy; no one has ever tried to stop him from using it and he has only 
stopped using it in recent years because of medical conditions. Mr. Deen recognizes 
that only the sections between Points A – F - G and D - E have been used since the 
1960s, although maintains that the entire claimed route is the correct one which he 
originally used.

Mrs Judith Watkins stated that she has not used the claimed route very much over 
the last two years but when they (she included her husband) made the claim she 
used it regularly – and had done so for at least 20 years, e.g. took her children there 
for walks. Their children have also used it for walks in later years. She stated that 
she only uses this route for walking although she also said that she rode a bike once 
or twice down as far as Aberfan (using the Taff Trail). She showed the claimed route 
on a map – from the side of the Gethin Tip to the riverbank to the south. She 
described how sections are badly overgrown and cannot be used and recognizes 
that only the sections between Points A – F - G and D - E have been used since the 
1960s. She has never been challenged on the route and has never found any 
obstacle which prevented her from using it. 

Mrs Kim Davies stated that this was one of a number of routes which she regularly 
rode from the 1960s, particularly the section from the canal bank to the Gethin Tip. 
She used it as a link from the Canal Bank (now a legal bridleway, the Taff Trail) to 
Aberdare Mountain where she would use several circular routes. She was never 
challenged on the route. Mrs Davies recognizes that only the sections between 
Points A – F - G and D - E have been used since the 1990s and only gave evidence 
of pedestrian use for this latter period. She stated that she has seen many people 
using these regularly, for example, walking dogs adding “these are very busy 
routes”. 

Mr. Derek Games gave written and oral evidence of having used this route.  He 
requested the opportunity to give evidence in support of claimed rights of way in the 
Abercanaid area and explained that he had not thought it appropriate to fill in a claim 
form originally as he was formally a Councillor and also Chairman of Planning and 
the Rights of Way Committee. Mr Games annotated a map depicting points on the 
routes of the several footpaths he has walked. 

Page 39



In relation to this route, he stated that he has walked it, but not regularly. He 
described it as “a short cut down through the fields to the walkway by the side of the 
river right down to Troedyrhiw.  There are lots blackberries and nuts that we’d go 
there to pick but I haven’t been that way for a long time, about 10 / 15 years”. He 
stated that he never asked permission to use it and no one ever tried to stop him 
from using it. He recognizes that only the sections between Points A – F - G and D - 
E have been used since the 1960s.

In relation to this and other routes for which he gave evidence, Mr Games stated,

“I have walked all the routes above over the last 50+ years although not so much 
lately. My daughter has often walked with me since a child and will confirm that 
period . . . It has always been accepted that they were rights of way, people thought 
they were.

He also stated, 

‘It is vital that people carry on using these routes, it would be tragic to lose these very 
major facilities for people going into the countryside – we will never have them back. 

People have enjoyed them for so many years and this is something we need to 
continue with”.

 This is one of several routes which Mr Robert Holdaway gave evidence of having 
ridden on a regular basis to access the top of Aberdare Mountain and as part of a 
number of different circular routes. He rode every morning during the 1960s but 
recognizes that only the sections between Points A – F - G and D - E have been 
used since the demolition of the bridge and these are only walked, not ridden. He 
stated that no one has ever tried to stop him using this route and he always thought 
he had a right to use it. 

Other relevant information

The western and central sections of this route are depicted (although not numbered) 
on a map titled “Rights of Way in the former County Borough Definitive Proposals, 
1991”.

4.0 CONSULTATION

4.1 Investigation Report

An Investigation report into this route was distributed to all interested parties in July 
2009. This document was a report of the investigation into this claim to date and was 
sent to all known landowners and occupiers, neighbouring landowners and 
occupiers, ward councillors and to anyone who was known to have an interest in the 
land. 

Responses received:

Page 40



MTCBC internal departments - no comments at that time

MTCBC Education Dept - stated that they had no comments to offer at that 
time but may wish to comment in the future

Local councillor – stated that the upper and lower sections of the path are 
reasonably well used, and uses them himself (although between Points A – F 
- G in the east) but that it is impossible to walk the entire claimed route as the 
bridge over the canal no longer exists leaving a break in the incline. The route 
between the Taff Trail and the A470 has changed.

Utilities - indicated their assets in the area but did not formally object to the 
route

4.2 Observations from Landowners and Other Parties

The owners of the land and Ward Councillors were consulted at the time of the 
application. 

At the time of application British Coal Opencast Executive wrote that they had no 
observations. 

Attempts to contact Ryan International Ltd were not successful.

Representatives of Walters Group have discussed Rights of Way and claimed Rights 
of Way in the area with Rights of Way Officers. 

 4.3 Assessment 

This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 
today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by recording the 
route known as Troedyrhiw 213 as a footpath.

Status

PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT. 

Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 
evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. This claim 
has been submitted as a bridleway; there is no evidence of higher status.

User and historic evidence demonstrate use of Troedyrhiw 213 as a footpath. 
Officers consider that sufficient evidence exists for the period in question for the 
route to be recorded as a footpath.

Insufficient user evidence exists for the use of the section between D – E and this 
section should not be recorded.  

Page 41



4.4 Period of Use to be Considered

In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question, the normal period 
looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case Officers consider that it 
would be the period between 17th September 1971 and 16th September 1991; user 
evidence exists for this period for Troedyrhiw 213. 

Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.

4.5 The Line of the Route

Sections of this route are clearly discernible on the ground. 

4.6 Historical and Other Evidence

The route has been depicted on a number of cartographic sources. Depiction of this 
route on the various maps as described in the body of this Report indicates that a 
track / path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public rights on the 
route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track / path and the way in 
which this claimed route links with other routes.

4.7 User Evidence

Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence as described above.

4.8 Landowners and Other Interested Parties

Councillors are requested to take into account landowner observations and 
objections as described above.

Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway. There is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the public 
rights now claimed, i.e. over the relevant period and at all material times before it.       

Officers have presented user evidence for the existence of this route, Troedyrhiw 
213 as a footpath.

Taking all of the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, 
the interviews with claimants, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this 
route.

Page 42



It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of S. 31(1) 
and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route included on the application. 
It is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to 
dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route. An Order to modify the Definitive 
Map and Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.

Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence.

This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. 

All relevant evidence must be reviewed.

Taking all of the above into account, it is evident that a right of way does exist over 
this route.

Once the way is established as a way open for public use, the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway.

Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement 
should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
Officers are satisfied that the requirements of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that 
the Public Right of Way exists.

Officers therefore recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map and 
Statement as depicted by a dashed line between Points A – F - G on the Plan, 
Troedyrhiw 213 and as described above.

If approved, the route will be recorded as Troedyrhiw 213.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Officer time is involved in investigating the routes and writing the report.  If 
Councillors determine that the public rights of way exist, there will be a financial 
implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with the Public Inquiry if an 
Order is made and there is an objection to it.

If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the routes will 
need to signed. As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 
considered by the Committee when determining this application as the County 
Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it.

Page 43



6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

An Equality Impact Assessment has been considered relating to this document and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage.

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Rights of Way March 2016 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Page 44



Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Guidance on the Law relating to the Continuous Review of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way
	4 Guidance on the Law relating to the Diversion of Rights of Way under Highways Act 1980
	5 Vaynor 25
	6 Pant 13
	Dec 2012  -  Report
	Dec 2012  -  Plan
	Feb 2014  -  Report
	Feb 2014  -  Plan

	7 Troedyrhiw 113
	Plan


